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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
WESTERN DIVISION

DARNELL MITCHELL,
Movant,

Cv. No. 2:1%v-02660-FM-cgc
V. Cr. No. 2:10€r-20299-PM-1
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent.

N—r N N N N N’ N’ e

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART MOTION
PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 2255
AND
VACATING JUDGMENT IN CRIMINAL CASE

Before the Court is &otion Under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct
Sentence by a Person in Federal Custody (“8 2255 Motion”) filedlldyant Damell Mitchell
(“Mitchell”) , Bureau of Prisons register numl28254-076 who is currently incarcerated at the
United States Penitaaty in Terre Hautelndiana (8 2255 Mot.,Mitchell v. United Sates, No.
2:15cv-02660JPM-cgc (W.D. Tenn.), ECHNo. 1.) For the reasons stated below, the Court
GRANTS IN PART andDENIESIN PART the § 2255 Motion.

l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Criminal Case Number 10-20299

On August 24, 2010a federal grand jury returnedsinglecount indictmentcharging
that, betweenon or about April 24, 2010, and on or about April 28, 20Michell, a convicted
felon, possessed a Hhoint 9mm caliber semrautomatic pistolin violation of 18 U.S.C.

8 922(gfl). (Indictment,United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 210-cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D. Tenn.),
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ECF No. 1.) The factual basis for the charge is stated in the presenterestigationreport

(“PSR"):

The Offense Conduct

According to the investigative file, on April 24, 2010, at approximately 7:54 a.m.,
officers with the Memphis Police Department responded to a call at 330
Hollowell in Memphis, TN. The victim, Gregoi@ray, advised that he, Darrell
Lackland, and Harry Upchurch, had been threatened with a pit bull dog and
robbed at gunpoint bfparnell Mitchell at approximately 6:30 a.m. Mr. Gray
advised thatMitchell put a pit bull into Mr. Upchurch’s truck which was
occupied by Mr. Gray, Mr. Lackland, and Mr. Upchurch. The victims told
Mitchell to get the dog out of the vehicle at which tiMéchell got into the
truck, pulled out a firearm, and pointed it back and forth at the victims. He
demanded that all three tilms give him their money, cell phones, and jewelry.
Mitchell threatened to “put something hot” into the victims if they did not give
him all of their possessions. The victims obligéditchell then pointed the gun

at Mr. Upchurch’'s head and made himvdrto Benford and Hollowell where
Mitchell forced Mr. Gray and Mr. Lackland out of the vehicMitchell kept Mr.
Upchurch at gunpoint and forced him to drive off. Mr. Gray and Mr. Lackland
returned to 330 Hollowell and notified the police.

On April 27, 2010 at approximately 11:15 p.m., officers with the Memphis Police
Departmentesponded to a shots fired call in the area of Farrington and Modder.
Upon arrival, officers observed a vehicle sitting idle in the middle of Silverage
Street withno lights turned on. A traffic stop was conducted Biiidhell exited

the vehicle abruptly. Mitchell smelled of intoxicant, had slurred speech, and
could not walk straightMitchell was subsequently detained. Jacqueline Fiveash,
who also occupied the vehicle, was observed by officers making furtive
movements under the passenger seat. She was also detained. Officers recovered
from underneath the passenger seatligooint 9 mm pistol, serial number
P132251 which was loaded with a round in the chamber and a magazine with

ten more rounds. The firearm came back as stoleklitchell and Ms. Fiveash
were taken into custody

Mitchell was arrested and placed in a squad car, where he kicked the driver’s side
rear door and banged his head against the windpeatedly. He was ordered to
stop damaging the vehicle, but he refused. Officers attempted to stop this from
continuing andMitchell kicked and spit at the arresting officers. A chemical
agent had to be used for his own safety. A medical unit madsdine bt
Mitchell refused treatment. He further refused to submit to a blood alcohol test.
A check revealed his driver’s license was suspended at the time of his arrest



9. While on the scene, officers were flagged down by Mr. Gray, who advised that
Mitchell had robbed him on April 24, 2010. A check verified that Mr. Gray had
previously filed a reportMitchell and Ms. Fiveash were taken to felony response
for further investigation. Mitchell did not sign a rights waiver or make a
statement

10. Upon arriving at felony response, Ms. Fiveash provided a statement to
investigators indicated that she had escoké@dhell and her cousin, Josh LNU,
to a store. According to Ms. Fiveash, her cousin exited the vehicle to go into the
store, at which timéitchell showed her a firearm and told her to let him drive.
Mitchell then got into the driver’'s seat and he told her they were going to his
aunt’s house. Soon after that, Ms. Fiveash reported she heard shots being fired.
Ms. Fiveash reported that aftene heard the shooting, officers pulled behind her
vehicle andMitchell stated “Oh shit the police are pulling us over and | got this
gun.” Ms. Fiveash advised thiglitchell then put the firearm under her seat. Ms.
Fiveash reported that the gun belongeMiizhell .

11. On April 29, 2010, Ms. Fiveash gave a signed witness statement advising that
Mitchell had possessed the firearm on April 27, 2010 and he was shooting the
gun in the air prior to the officers’ arrival. Investigators determined that Ms
Fiveash was not associated with the April 24, 2010 robbery and she was released
without charge on April 29, 2010.

12. A check revealed thawlitchell was a convicted felon at the time of his arrest.
The firearm was not manufactured in the State of Tennessee and therefore
traveled in interstate commerce
13.  On April 30, 2010, Darrell Lackland was shown a police photo-umeand
positively identifiedMitchell as the person responsible for robbing him on April
24, 2010. Mr. Lackland gave a signed victimatsment citing thaMitchell had
threatened him with a pit bull and then robbed him at gunpoint. Some time later,
Mr. Upchurch also identifieMlitchell as the person who had forced him to drive
off at gunpoint, leaving Mr. Lackland and Mr. Gray.
(PSR 116, 7-13.)
A jury trial commenced on May 7, 2012, and, on May 9, 2012, the jury returned a guilty
verdict on the sole count of the Indictme(Min. Enties United States v. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-
20299JPM1 (W.D. Tenn.),ECF Na. 8283, 85) At asentewing hearing on February 28,

2013 the Court sentenceditchell to a term of imprisonment &00months to be followed by a



five-year period of supervised release. (Min. Enily, ECF No0.110.)' Judgment was entered
on March 4, 2013 (J. in a Criminal Cased., ECF No.112.) Mitchell filed a notice of appeal
thesame day (Notice of Appealjd., ECF No0.114) The Sixth Circuit affirmed.United Sates
v. Mitchell, 743 F.3d1054 (6th Cir2014. The Supreme Court denidditchell’s petition for a
writ of certiorari on Octobe8, 2014. Mitchell v. United Sates, 135 S. Ct. 158 (20)4
B. Case Numberl5-2660
On October 22015, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.Z255,Mitchell filed apro se Motion Under
28 U.S.C. § 22550 Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence by a Person in Federal Custody
(“8 2255 Motion™) (82255 Mot.,Mitchell v. United States, No. 2:15-cv-02660JPM-cgc (W.D.

Tenn.), ECF No. 1.)Themotion presents the following issues:

1. “Ineffective assistancef counse€l at the motion to suppress sta@e at
PagelD 7,
2. “illegal sentence(id. at PagelD ;

! The 2011 edition of th&uidelines Manual was used taalculate Mitchell's sentencing
range. Pursuant to § 2K2.1(c)(1)(Acrossreferencing § 2X1.1 andZ3B3.10f the United States
Sentencing Guidelines (“U.S.S.G.”), the base offense level for unlawful gasses a firearm
is 20if the defendant used possessed any firearm or dargges weapon in connection with the
commission robbery. (PSR  17.) Mitchell received a dewel enhancement because the
firearm was ot discharged but was otherwissed, U.S.S.G. 8 2B3.1(b)(2)(B), a fdavel
enhancemenbecause victims were abducted to facilitate commission of the offense or to
facilitate escape, U.S.S.G. 8§ 2B3.1(b)(4)(A), and alevel enhancement because the offense
involved carjacking, U.S.S.G. 8§ 2B3.1(b)(5), resulting in a total offense led&. dPSR 11 18
20, 26.) GivenMitchell’s criminal history category of N the guideline sentencing rangewid
have been 210-262 months.

Because of his prior convictions for violent felonies, however, Mitchatisgntenced as
an armed career criminal pursuant to the Armed Career Criminal Act (*ACCE8)U.S.C.
§ 924e) and U.S.S.G. § 4B1.4ursuant to U.S.S.G. § 4B1.4(b)(3)(A), the offense level was 34.
(PSR § 27.)The guideline sentencing range was-32Z months. Mitchell was also subject to a
mandatory minimum sentence of 15 years, or 180 months, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1).
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3. “ineffective assistance of counsel” “for failing to object to the testimony

of government witnessesit{ at PagelD 8 and

4, “ineffective assistance of trial counsdibr failing to raise specific issues

and causing cumulative prejudifd. at PagelD 5)

OnFebruary 24, 2016, the Court directed the Government to resgonder,Mitchell v.
United Sates, No. 2:15€v-02660JPM-cgc (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. 5 The Government fileds
response on April 19, 2016Résp, id., ECF No. 8 Mitchell did not file a eply.

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a),

[a] prisoner in custody under sentence of a court established by Scngfress

claiming the right to be released upon the ground that the sentence was imposed

in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States, or that the court was
without jurisdiction to impose such sentence, or that the sentence was is @xces
the maximum authorized by law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack, may
move the court which imposed the sentence to vacate, set aside or correct the
sentence.
“A prisoner seeking relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 must allege eitlier an errorof
constitutional magnitude; (2) a sentence imposed outside the statutory lin{i8};aor error of
fact or law that was so fundamental as to render the entire proceeding ihvatiort v. United
Sates, 471 F.3d 686, 691 (6th Cir. 2006).

A 8§ 2255 motion is not a substitute for a direct appe&k Ray v. United Sates, 721

F.3d 758, 761 (6th Cir. 2013). “[N]onconstitutional claims that could have been raised on

appeal, but were not, may not be asserted in collateral proceedi®gee’v. Powell, 428 U.S.

465, 477 n.10 (1976). “Defendants must assert their claims in the ordinary course of trial and

2 Although this claim is raised third in Mitchell’s § 2255 Motion, the Court ictars it
last because it concerns the cumulative effect of all ineffective of counsel claims.
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direct appeal.” Grant v. United Sates, 72 F.3d 503, 506 (6th Cir. 1996). This rule is not
absolute:
If claims have been forfeited by virtue of ineffective assistance of couhsal, t
relief under 8 2255 would be available subject to the standa&kickiand v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). In those
rare instances where the defaulted claim is of an error notaoifglinognizable or
constitutional error, but the error is committed in a context that is so positively

outrageous as to indicate a “complete miscarriage of justice,” it seems to us that
what is really being asserted is a violation of due process.

Even constitutional claims that could have been raised on direct appeal, but werd not, wi
be barred by procedural default unless the defendant demonstrates cause and puéfictBoe
to excuse his failure to raise these issues previoudhNobani v. United Sates, 287 F.3d 417,
420 (6th Cir. 2002) (withdrawal of guilty pledeveler v. United Sates, 269 F.3d 693, 69900
(6th Cir. 2001) (new Supreme Court decision issued during pendency of direct ;dpipdab)v.
United States, 229 F.3d 550, 552 (6th Cir. 2000) (trial errors). Alternatively, a defendant may
obtain review of a procedurally defaulted claim by demonstrating that hetimllgannocent.”
Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 622 (1998).

After a § 2255 motion is filed, it ieeviewed by the Court and, “[i]f it plainly appears
from the motion, any attached exhibits, and the record of prior proceedings that thg party
is not entitled to relief, the judge must dismiss the motion.” Rule 4(b), Rules Gov&ettign
2255 Proceedings for the United States District Courts (“§ 2255 Rules”). “If themstnot
dismissed, the judge must order the United States attorney to file an ansten, rar other
response within a fixed time, or to take other action the judge may ortter. The movant is
entitled to reply to the Government’s response. Rule 5(d), § 2255 Rules. The Court may also

direct the parties to provide additional information relating to the motion. Rule 7, § 2255 Rules



“In reviewing a8 2255 motion in which a factual dispute ariséise habeas court must
hold an evidentiary hearing to determine the truth of the petitioner’'s claiméalentine v.
United Sates, 488 F.3d 325, 333 (6th Cir. 200 QuptingTurner v. United Sates, 183 F.3d 474,
477 (6th Cir. 1999)). “[N]o hearing is required if the petitioner’s allegations cannot éptedc
as true because they are contradicted by the record, inherently incredibteclusions rather
than statements of fact.Td. (QuotingArredondo v. United Sates, 178 F.3d 778, 782 (6th Cir.
1999). Where the judge considering the § 2255 motion also presided over the criminéihease,
judge may rely on his recollection of the prior cagtanton v. United Sates, 94 F.3d 227, 235
(6th Cir. 1996) see also Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 n.4 (197T7JA] motion under
§2255 is ordinarily presented to the judge who presided at the original conviction and
sentencing of the prisoner. In some cases, the judge’s recollection of the évssiie anay
enable him summarily to dismiss a § 2255 motion . . . .”). The movant has the burden of proving
that he is entitled to relief by a preponderance of the eviddrmegh v. United Sates, 442 F.3d
959, 964 (6th Cir. 2006).
1. ANALYSIS

A. Relief Based onJohnson v. United States

Mitchell argues thatollowing the Supreme Court'secentholdingin Johnson v. United
Sates, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2563 (201%)s prior convictions for robbery and evading arrest in an
automobile no longer qualify as violent felonies, and that he is therefore entitleigfto(em.
in Supp. of§ 2255 Mot. at PagelD 28litchell v. United Sates, No. 2:15cv-02660JPM-cgc
(W.D. Tenn.),ECF No. 11.). The Government concedtsat Johnson appliesretroactivelyin
this caseand as such, Mitchell is entitled to a reduction in his sentefiResp.at 5,id., ECF

No. 8.)



The Armed Criminal Career AGtACCA”) provides in relevanpart that

a person who violates section 922(g) of this title and has three previous

convictions by any court referred to in section 922(g)(1) of this title for antiole

felony . . . committed on occasions different from one another, such person shall

be. .. imprisoned not less than fifteen years . . . .

18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1).

“Violent felony” is defined by the ACCA as a felony “that (i) has as an elementsthe u
attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the personhef;aoot(i) is
burglary, arson, or extortion, involves use of explosives, or otherwise involves cohdtict t
presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to another.” 18 U.S.C. 8§ 928k)(2)(

The Supreme Court held dohnson that the residual clause of the ACCA, encompassing
all felonies that “involve[] conduct that presents a serious potential risk ofcphysjury to
another,” 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii), was unconstitutionally vague and that the applicht
the residial clause to increase a sentence violated the Due Process Clause. t125%.,2557
(2015). Thelohnson decision applies only to the residual clause and “does not call into question
application of the Act to the four enumerated offenses, or the remainder of the Aoitsodeof
a violent felony.” Id. at 2563.

The Supreme Court has madehnson’s rule retroactive to cases on collateral review.
Welch v. United Sates, 136 S. Ct. 1257, 1268Apr. 18, 2016) (Johnson is thus a substantive
decisionand so has retroactive effect. ).

The prior convictions used to qualify Mitchell as an armed career criminat \(IBra
1988 Tennessee conviction for robbery (PSR 1 37); (2) a 2003 Tennessee conviction for robbery
(id. 1 43); and (3) a 2003 Tennessee conviction for intentionally evading arrest in an automobile

(id. § 44). At the time of Mitchell’s sentencindyis 2003 convictiorfor intentionally evading

arrest in an automobiliell within the scope of ACCA’s residual clause, permittihg Courtto



classify him as an armed career crimiaatl impose an enhanced sentence upon his conviction
See United Sates v. Franklin, 622 F. App’x 501, 514 (6th Cir. 201%yacating a petitioner’'s
sentence because his Tennessee felony evading arrest conwiatitonger qualifies as a
predicate offense under the ACCAJnited States v. Doyle, 678 F.3d 429, 430 {6 Cir. 2012)
(holding that “Class E felony evading arrest under Tennessee law” fétis whe purview of
ACCA'’s residual clause). Thus, following the retroactive decision tiohnson, Mitchell’s
intentionally evading arrest in an automobile conviction is no longer a predi¢atsefunder
the ACCA. Mitchell has only two other predicate convictions which qualify asqatedi under
the ACCA and, therefore, is not subject to the ACCA'’s fiftgear mandatory minimum
sentence.

Because Mitchell is entitled to relief on thehnson issue raised in his § 2255 Motion, he
is entitled toresentencing The Court next considers whether Mitlthie entitled to any other
relief based on his ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

B. Relief Based on Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The Court construes Mitchell's § 2255 Motion &ssertfour discrete grounds of
ineffective assistance of Mr. Bell's counsé€ll) failure toraise issues regarding the Motion and
Amended Motion to Suppres$2) failure to object to thaestimony of the Government’s
witnesses;(3) failure to arguethat Mitchell neither actually nor constructively possessed a
fiream in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(Bt the time of his arresand (4) failure to raise

specific issues caused a cumulative effect and cumulative prejudice

% If a court determines that a petitioner is entitled to any relief under.28U§ 2255,
“the court shall vacate and set the judgment aside.” 28 U.S.C. § 2255(b). “Once thenudgm
vacated, the district court must proceed to grant one of four remedies ‘asappagr
appropriate’: (1) ‘discharge’ the prisoner, (2) ‘resentence’ the prisonegrédjt‘a new trial,” or
(4) ‘correct’ the sentence.Ajan v. United Sates, 731 F.3d 629, 631 (6th Cir. 2013).
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A claim that ineffective assistance of counsel has deprived a movant of hiis Sixt
Amendment right to counsel is controlled by the standards stat&dickland v. Washington,

466 U.S. 668 (1984). To demonstrate deficient performance by counsel, a petitioner must
demonstrate that “counsel’s representation fell belowlgective standard of reasonableness.”
Id. at 688.

A court considering a claim of ineffective assistance must appigtrang

presumption” that counsel’'s representation was within theide rangé of

reasonable professional assistance. The challenger's burden is to*thlabw

counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’

guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.”
Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (201{gitationsomitted).

To demonstrate prejudice, a prisoner must establish “a reasonable probabjliytt et
counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have beeantiffer
Srickland, 466 U.S. at 694 “A reasonable mbability is a probability sufficient to undermine
confidence in the outcome.ld. “It is not enough to show that the errors had some conceivable
effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Counsel’s errors must be so serious as toloeprive t
defendant of fair trial, a trial whose result is reliableRichter, 562 U.S. at 104citations and
internal gwtation marksomitted); see also id. at 11112 (“In assessing prejudice under
Strickland, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsdbsrpance had no effect
on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been estdblished i
counsel acted differently. . . . The likelihood of a different result must be substaotiglist

conceivable.”(citations omitted) Wong v. Belmontes, 558 U.S. 15, 27 (2009)per curiam)

(“But Strickland does not require the State ‘tolle out [a more favorable outcome] to prevail.

4 “IA] court need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficierte befo

examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant” Id. at 697. If a reviewing court finds a
lack of prejudice, it need not determine whether, in fact, counsel’'s performanatefi@snt.
Id.
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Rather, Srickland places the burden on the defendant, not the State, to show a ‘reasonable
probability’ that the result would have been different.”).

1. Failure to raise issues regarding the motion and amended motion to
suppress

In his first groundor ineffective assistance of counsel, Mitchell alleges, thadihis trial
counsel, Assistant Public Defendeavid Bell, “performed/provided effective assistance, the
motion to suppress would have been granted.” (Mem. in Sugp2855Mot. at PagelD 17,
Mitchell v. United Sates, No. 2:15cv-02660JPM-cgc (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No.-1.) In support
of this conclsion, Mitchell asserts that Belfailed to raise the fagtthat] Movant's Fourth
Amendment right was violated due to his illegal detention. .A competent attorney would
have raisd the issue of Movant's illegal detentidn(ld. at PagelD 1718) Mitchell claims that
Bell failed toidentify and presentcasd ]law which discusses how occupants traveling in a
stopped vehicle have standing to challenge the legitimacy of the stop as a selrsrerdier
person, even if they may lack standing to @rajke the search of a vehicle over which they have
no possessory or ownership interestd. &t PagelD 18.) Mitchell argues that Bell “should have
concluded that the traffic stop was not valid; the detention after the tradffionsas unlawful,
therefore the police conduct violated the Fourth Amendment, then all that followed is
suppressible as ‘fruit of the poisonous treeftl. @t PagelD 27.)Mitchell argueshat, had Bell
“challenged the legality of the initial sthpthe court’s determination would have proved the
initial stop was in fact unconstitutional. Movant’s instant charge . . . would not lock.st. .”

(Id. at PagelD 19.)

The record contradictdlitchell’s claims as to the first ground of ineffective assistance of

counsel. Bellin fact, explicitly argued thathe Memphis PolicedDepartmenviolated Mitchell's

Fourth Amendment righten April 27, 2010 (Am. Mot. to Suppress at@ United Sates v.
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Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. 41.Bell also explicitly arged that
“all evidence seized as a result of [the purportedly unconstitutional traffic stap]ld be
suppressed as fruit of the poisonous treéd! gt 6.) Bell againraised these arguments in a post
suppression hearing memorandunPogtHr'g Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Suppresst 1%17,
United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM1 (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. 65.)Bell raised
similar constitutionalargumentsagainin thewritten objections to the Magistraieidge’s Report
and RecommendationsDéf.’s Objs. to R. & Rat 1-4,id., ECF No. 71.)The parties addressed
these argumentbefore the Magistratdudge atthe October 24, 2011, suppression hearing
(10/24/2011Tr. at 118:23121:11,id., ECF No. 62.) Each of these briefs reflected ample legal
research. Thus, Bell made the exadegal challengeghat Mitchell assert8ell failed to make.
Neverthelessthe Court denied the Amended Motion to Suppress, and the jury found Mitchell
guilty of the offense dwged. The Court furthenotesthat Mitchell appears to be attempting to
relitigate his Amended Motion to Suppress, which he may not do via 8i2@%&n, albeit under
the pretense adnineffective assistance of counsthim. See Wright v. United Sates, 182 F.3d
458, 467 (6th Cir. 1999). As such, Mitchell has failed to establish the first prong of the
Srickland test for ineffective assistance of counsel as to this particular ground.
2. Failure to object to the testimony of the Government’s witnesse

In his second ground forineffective assistance of counsel, Mitchell alleges that Bell
failed to “object to the testimony of government witnesses: Gregory Geayy Hpchurch, and
Darrell Lackland,” which Mitchell asserts Bell should have done bedhestestimony of these
individuals “had nothing to do with the instant offense and was clearly irrelévdiMem. in
Supp. of § 2255 Mot. at PagelD 3Wlitchell v. United Sates, No. 2:15cv-02660JPM-cgc

(W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. -1.) Mitchell specifically claims that Bell should have objected to
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Gray, Upchurch, and Lackland’s testimony as “irrelevant and inadmissible Eaderal Rules

of Evidenc§] Rules 402[ and§04(b).” (d.) The testimony Mitchell believes to be irrelevant

summarizedn PSR § 5:

5.

According to the investigative file, on April 24, 2010, at approximately 7:54 a.m.,
officers with the Memphis Police Department responded to a call at 330
Hollowell in Memphis, TN. The victim, Gregory Gray, advised that he, Darrell
Lackland, and HarryJpchurch, had been threatened with a pit bull dog and
robbed at gunpoint by Darnell Mitchell at approximately 6:30 a.m. Mr. Gray
advised thatMitchell put a pit bull into Mr. Upchurch’s truck which was
occupied by Mr. Gray, Mr. Lackland, and Mr. Upchurcirhe victims told
Mitchell to get the dog out of the vehicle at which tiMéchell got into the
truck, pulled out a firearm, and pointed it back and forth at the victims. He
demanded that all three victims give him their money, cell phones, and jewelry
Mitchell threatened to “put something hot” into the victims if they did not give
him all of their possessions. The victims obligeditchell thenpointed the gun

at Mr. Upchurch’s head and made him drive to Benford and Hollowell where
Mitchell forcedMr. Gray and Mr. Lackland out of the vehicl®litchell kept Mr.
Upchurchat gunpoint and forced him to drive off. Mr. Gray and Mr. Lackland
returned to 330 Hollowell and notified the police.

(PSR 1 5 (mphasis added).)

Evidence is relevant if it tends to make a fact “more or less probable thauld e

without the evidence.” Fed. R. Evid. 481 “Typically, [background] evidence is a prelude to

the charged offense, is directly probative of the charged offensesdriam the same events as

the charged offensé&rms an integral part of a witness’s testimomycompletes the story of the

charged offense.” United Sates v. Heflin, 600 Fed. App’x 407, 4112 (6th Cir. 2015)

(alteration in originalquotingUnited Sates v. Adams, 722 F.3d 788, 810 (6th Cir. 20).3

The Courtfinds that thetestimonyat issuewas relevantand admissiblebecauseit

establisled that Mitchell engaged in conduptohibited by 18 U.S.C. § 922(gs charged in the

Indictment. On August 24, 2010, a federal grand jury indicted Mitchell with one count of

violating 18 U.S.C. ©22(g) “[b]etween on or about April 24, 2010 and on or about April 28,

2010.” (Indictment,United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:10¢r-20299JPV-1 (W.D. Tenn.) ECF No.
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1.) Although Gray, Upchurch, and Lacklaedtified as to events thatcurredthree days prior

to Mitchell's April 27, 2010,arrest,ther testimonyneverthelesss probative of the facthat,
during the time period charged in the Indictment, Mitchell, a convicted felon, pedses
firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g). Becatise testimony waselevant to establishing
the offenseas chargedBell did not detienty serve his client by failing to raise an unqualified
objection. Moreover, Mitchell has not established that Bell's failure to raise an objectionito the
testimony was prejudicial. Because the testimony was relevant, it woutdben admitted
over such an objectionAccordingly thereis no basison which to grant Mitchell’'s § 2255
Motion as to this particular ground.

4. Failure to argue that Mitchell neither actually nor constructively
possessed a firearm at the time of his arrest

In his third groundfor ineffective assistance of counsel, Mitchell alletjest Bell faled
to argueat trial and in a motion for acquitt#hat Mitchell “was not in actugbossession nor
constructive possession of the firearm which was found in the vehicle mgtheof Movant’s
arrest! (Mem. in Supp. of § 2255 Mot. at PagelD 3#itchell v. United Sates, No. 2:15cv-
02660JPM-cgc (W.D. Tenn.), EFC No.-1.) Mitchell also posits that, at trial, Bell “did not
bring to the courts [sic] attention that Movant was not inside the vehicle when ttin Meade
his alleged traffic stop.(Id.)

The trial transcript reflects that Bell did attempt to establish that Mitchell neteallsic
possessed the firearm during cressimination of Sgt. Robin Hulley.5/8/2012Tr. at 33123-
337.8, United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:1620299JPM-1 (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. 118.)During
crossexamination by Bell, Sgt. Hulley testified that she was unable to recover laggrprints
from the firearm using apowder test (id. at 337), and that she did not thereafter perform a

“Super Glué test (id. at 335. The Governmenhevertheless presentsdfficient evidenceto
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persuade the jury that Mitchell possessed a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 822{wgrged
in the Indictment. Given the testimony of Gray, Upchurch, Lackland, and RitlestsMitchell
possessed a firearm on April 24, 2010, and April 27, 2010, Bell could not be considered deficient
for failing to further argue that Mitchell did not actually or constructivelgsess the firearm.
Additionally, Bell's strategic choices relating to Mitchell’'s defense afforded significant
deference Hutchison v. Bell, 303 F.3d720, 748(6th Cir. 2002) (“[S]trategic choices made after
thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually
unchallengeable . . . .” (quotir®yickland, 466 U.S. 690-91)).

With respecto the claim that Bell fadd to raise these issues in a motion for acquittal,
Bell did, in fact, move for Mitchell’'s acquittalpursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(@Rule 29
motion”) after the Government rested The Courtdeniedthe motion for judgment of acquittal
as follows:

MR. BELL: Your Honor, we make our motion for judgment of acquittal at this
time.

THE COURT: All right. The evidence is construed in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party. In this case, this is a 922(g) case. The government has
submitted evidence from which a jury could find that each of those elements are
met and that, in fact, the defendant did knowingly possess the firearm as charged
in the case. The court gidoesn’t make any finding on that, it’s just that there is
evidence to support the government’s theory which is sufficient to allow this
matter to go to the jury. So the motion as set out is denied, and we should be
ready to proceed.

(5/8/2012Tr. at 358:23-359:10,United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D.
Tenn.), ECF No. 118.) The Court did not enterfanther argument from Bell on the Rule 29
motion. Bell renewed his Rule 2B a sidebarafter the defense restedndthe Courtagan
deniedthe motion. (Min. Entry, id., ECF No0.85.) Despite Mitchell’s contentions, an attorney

need not make a Rule 29 motion in writing, and need not specify the grounds for soitbna m
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United States v. Cox, 593 F.2d 46, 48 (6th Cir. 1979) (quotibgited States v. Jones, 174 F.2d
746, 748 (7th Cir. 1949)). Thus, Bell was not deficient in failing to raise sptgdt theories
as related to the facts of the casdis Rule 29 motions.

With respect to Mitchell’s claim that Bell failed to raigetrial that Mitchell was not in
the gray Chrysler Sebring at thene Lt. Martin initiated a traffic stop, the recoragain
contradicts Mitchels assertion The Government’s witnesses testified to seeing Mitchell inside
the vehicle at the time of theaffic stop. On direct examination by the Government, Fiveash
gave the following testimony:

Q. But it's your testimony that the defendant also fired shots?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. Did he fire them from inside the car or did keck his arm out the

window?

A. He stuck his arm out the window.

Q. What happened after these shots were fired?

A. The police got behind us.

Q. And what happened after the police got behind you?

A. They pulled us over, and | got out of the car.

Q. Okay. Let's take that stepy-step. As the police started to pull you over,
what, if anything, happened inside the car?

A. Darnell handed me a firearm

(5/8/2012 Tr. at 19120-1928, United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D.
Tenn.), ECF No. 118 Thus,Fiveaskhs testimony indicates that MitcheNas inside the vehicle
at the timeof the traffic stop. Under direct examination by the Government, Lt. Martin gave the

following testimony:

16



> 0 » O

> 0 » O

Were you abléo see inside this vehiclgzou had pulled over?
Correct.

And what, if anythingcan you describe to the jury that you saw going on
inside this vehicle.

Okay. As | pulled the vehicle over, as officer safety, we tend to try to
watch to see what is going on inside the vehicle. | could notice that the
driver was doing some furtive movements in the front of the car.

Now, can you explain to the jury what you mean by furtive movements?
He was reaching down, doing something toward the floorboard.

Did you think he was hiding something?

Well, atthe time, because of the shots fired called, | am assuming that
possibly he had a gun. | don’t know what he’s doing, so I'm trying to
observe him to make sure he’s not going to exit with a handgun or some
kind of weapon.

Now, around this time, did other police cars pull up to the scene?

Correct.

And again, are you still making observations of what is gfong inside
the car?

Right, once the other units pulled up, I'm preparing to get out of the car. |
had my weapon drawn, because liksaid, it wa a shots fired call. And

as | walked up to the car, the individual jumped out of theacéng
erratic.

You said hdwas]acting erratic?

Right, as if he was drunk or high on something. | could smell the alcohol
coming from his person when he got out of the car.

Did you recognize the person that got out of the car?
Yes.
And who was the person that got out of the car?

Darnell Mitchell

17



(Id. at 24023-2427.) Lt. Martin's testimonylikewise evinces thaMitchell wasinside the
vehicle at the time of the traffic stop. Bell has no professional obligaticgaise frivolous
arguments or defenses trial See Chapman v. United Sates, 74 F. App’x 590, 593 (6th Cir.
2003) (citingKrist v. Foltz, 804 F.2dd44, 94647 (6h Cir. 1986)). Accordingly,Bell’s failure to
specificallyargue that Mitchell did not possess the fireavas not deficient undegrickland,

and Mitchell fails to establish the first prong of ti&rickland test for indfective assistance of
counsel As suchthereis no foundation on which to grant Mitchell's § 2255 Motion as to this
particular ground

4, Failure to raise specific issues caused a cumulative effect and
cumulative prejudice

In his fourth ground of ineffective assistance of counbkétchell alleges that Bell’s
“errors and failure to raise specific issues . . . caused a cumulative effect ankhtimemu
prejudice to movant’s case.” (Mem. in Supp. of § 2255 Mot. at PagelMid&ell v. United
Sates, No. 2:15¢cv-02660JPM-cgc (W.D.Tenn.), ECF No. 4L.) Mitchell further claims that
Bell's failure to raise “the lack of video recording/dasbunted camera recording, and
counsel’s failure to raise the issue that movant was not in the vehicle whenrtih filst made
the allegedraffic stop; and . . . failure to challenge the legality of the initial stop and dateuiti
movant” prevented the Court from determining the constitutionality of the trafic s(d.)
Mitchell claims that these alleged failures on Bell's part “had a cumulative éiéeetuse the
Magistrate Judge never reviewed or made a ruling on these issues aforemgatidhedssues
or challenges were not madg ]Jpart of the Report and Recommendation by the Magistrate

Judge.” [d.)
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Again, the record contradicts Mitchell’'s allegations. As discussed aboNar@eed the
constitutionality of the Memphis Police Department’s traffic stop inaheended motion to
suppress, at the suppression hearing, in the-faggression hearing memorandum, andha
written objections to the Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation. Tiserdagudge
did, therefore, hear these arguments, and subsequently recommendedilia, that the
Memphis Police Department did not violate MitchellsuRh Amendment rights, and that
Mitchell “did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in Ms. Fiveash’s parehitde and
therefore lack[ed] standing to challenge the search of the vehicle.” (R. &1R, 42,United
Satesv. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D. Tenn.), ECF No. 70.) The Court adopted the
Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation over the objections of Bellpmbadbgalf of
Mitchell. (Order at 716,id., ECF No. 77.)

With respect to Mitchell's allegation that Bell fadl to obtain a video recording from a
dashmounted camera and present it at trial, on March 11, 2011, Bell filed a discovery,request
seekingall items discoverable under Rule 16 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Precedisc.

Req. at 1 (citing Fed. RCrim. P. 16(a)(1)(E))id., ECF No. 23.) Rule 16(a)(1)(E) provides for
discovery of‘photographs” and “tangiblebjects in the government’s possessidri(i) the item

is material to preparing the defense; (ii) the government intends to use the itencasen-

chief at trial; or (iii) the item was obtained from or belongs to the deferid&ad. R. Crim. P.
16(a)(1)(E). The Government responded to Bell's request on April 18, 2011, indicating that
evidence responsive to the request did not include any video recordings. (Resp. to Didc. Req. a
1, United Sates v. Mitchell, No. 2:10cr-20299JPM-1 (W.D. Tenn.), EC No. 24.) In other

words, a video recording of the traffic stop did not exigas not in the Government’'s
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possessionor was not materiaio preparing the defenseThus, the lack of video recording
evidence is not the result of any deficient representation on Bell’'s part.

Moreover, because Mitchell has failed to demonstrate that Bell committed any uadlivid
errors, his claim of cumulateverror fails. See United Sates v. Trujillo, 376 F.3d 593, 614 (6th
Cir. 2004) (“In order to obtain a new trial based upon cumulative error, a defendant must show
that the combined effect of individually harmless errors was so prejudgi® render i trial
fundamentally unfair.”). Tereis, therefore no foundation on which to grant Mitchell’'s § 2255
Motion as to this particular ground.

D. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Mitchell's § 2255 MotionGRANTED IN PART and
DENIED IN PART. Because Mitchell is entitled to relief on tlehnson issue raised in his
§ 2255 Motion, the judgment in criminal case no.-ZD299JPM1 is VACATED. The
Probation Office is directed to prepare a supplemental Presentence Investigaport.
Defendantwill be resentenced in underlying criminal case no2QR99JPM1. The parties
may file position papers as to the sentence to be imposed and the procedure to bedeimploy
imposing the sentence in criminal case no. 10-2Q0F%-1.

. APPEAL ISSUES

Twenty-eight U.S.C. 8§ 2253(a) requires the district court to evaluate the appealability of
its decision denying a 8 2255 motion and to issue a certificate of appealai@A() “only if
the applicant has made a substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional righi.'5.28
§2253(c)(2);see also Fed. R. App. P. 22(b)Whena district court partially grants a § 2255
motion to vacate and a petitioner merely seeks to challenge the relief grantedagpeatng a

new crimiral sentence and therefore need not obtain a CO¥dh, 731 F.3d at 631 (quoting
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United Sates v. Hadden, 475 F.3d 652, 664 (4th Cir. 2007))Accordingly, the Court need not
consider whether Mitchell is entitled to a COA or entitled to apipefal ma pauperis.

IT IS SO ORDERED thi21st day of June, 2016.

/s/Jon P McCalla
JON P. McCALLA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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